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Cranmer, Gage and the Cornfords

During the 16th century Ringmer Park was transformed in all but name. For
some three hundred years it had been 2 deer park preservod for the use of
successive Archbishops of Canterbury, but after several changes of ownership

it smerged Ly about 1580 as a private agricultural estate,

In 15338 Archbishop Crapmer lea=sed the Park, with the site of the manor of
Stoneham and its lands, to Henry Polsted, gentleman, one of the provisions of
the lease being that he must 'leave in the Park at the end of the term 30 deer,
being the number he recelwed”, Twice & year he must provide sufficient "horse-
meat and manmeat” for the Archbishop's officers when they came on business, but
for not more than three days at a time. The leaze was for a term of &0 years
at a rent of £47, 18Bs, 3d. and "6 sides and 3 haunches of ceasonable Bucks and
8 sides and 3 haunches of 3 seascnable Doss yearly". Polsted salsc had to pay
23 per snnum to ﬁilliam Corneforde, the Park Keoper, after whose death John
Brackenbury, the Archbishop's servant; wasz to be the Keeper at 60s. 10d. The
rent venison was agreed at "1Ds, for every two sides and one haunch of Buck
venison and 8s. 8d. of Dos venison" (1), This makes it clear that Ringmer -
Park at that time was still functioning 83 a deer park, and that the Archbishop

intended this state of affairs to continue for at least the next 40 years.

In 1548 the park was estimated to contain sbout 130 acres (2), about the same
size as Moot Park, whereas Plashett, the third Ringmer deer. park, and others in
Sussex such as Nichelhamn, Hellingly and Petworth were all probably between 00
and 800 acres in extant, Deer parks were normally surrcunded by a ditch, out-
zide which would be & bank surmpunted by a fence or hedge; this ocutline was
usually curved, which made fencing esasier and more economical (3) and the
typically oval shape of Ringmer Park can still be traced oh a modern mep.

There must have bsen hedging zs well as fencing on at least part of the boundary,
a5 Heneapge Legge glves several references to expenditure on hedging. Three
gates are mentioned, "the great gate” and two others, one of which was the #asi
gate (4}, These gates would have been built up with 2 barrier above the road
to prevent the escape of deer, while allowing pedeéfrians through (5). The
object was not only to keep the deer in the park but also tc:encourage ather

deer ta enter, for which purpose deer-lesps were provided, consisting of a

lower lenpgth of fence with a deep ditch on the park side of the bank, so that
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& deer could jump in but would find it difficult to get out (67,

The park probably consisted mostly of woodland, giving cover for the desy as
well aa providing fodder. Neer can browse on many tracs and shrubs including
oak, ash, maple, hawmel, holly and ivy, and they eat fruit such as crah-apples,
paars, and haws, and also zcorns and beech-mast (6). Yolsted hud fo purchase
for 50 warks (a mark was worth 13s. 4d.) all trees, woods and underwood in the
park (1}); Legge records more than one instance of the sale of timber, for
example in the 15th century "10a, Bd. received for 30 cart loads of timber sold
to one burner at the lime kiln) and the fact that there was a heronry {4}
impliss considerable tree cover, There would have been grassy clearings

hetwaeen the treez called 'launds' or 'lawns' for grazing (G),

Henry Polsted's leass had only run for five years when Ringmer Park came into
the possession of Sir John Gage of Firle. This was the result of a Deed of
Exchange by virtne of an Act of Parliament of 1543, involwving the Archbishop of
Canterbury, Sir John Gage and Thopas Culpeper. The outcome waz that the
Archbishop exchanged possessions in South Malling, Ringmer, Littie Horsted and
Framfield for manors and lands in Eent owned by Gage; the Archbishop also
exchanged some of his properties in Eent wiih Eentish mancrz owned by Colpeper,
who gained some other Gage possessions in Kent, for example the advowson and
patronage of Hever church. Gage by this transaction became lord of the manor
of 'Ramescombe’, and owner of More Park, Ringmer Park and Plashett Park in
Ringmwer, and among other acquisitions was the "Ryver of Lewes from South Street
(Cliffe) to the mouth called Riche Mouths" (7). Stonsham was not included in
this exchange, and nothiog more is koown of Henry Polsied’'s leaze of Ringmer

Park,

No doubt this property desl was to Gage's advantage, as he was then in high
favonr with Henry VIII, who had made him a Knight of the Garfer, Compiroller of
the Housetwld, Chapcellor of the Duchy of Lancaster and Constable of the Tower
of London (8). He soon disposed of the two smaller deer parks, wihich may have
basn the laast attractive of his new possessions. In 1546 he sold Ringmer Park
outright for 2300 to William Cornford and his son John, This was the same
William whe in 1538 had been the Park KHesper at £3 per annom, In the two Deeds
appertaining to this sale noe mention is nade of deer, but the descripticn of the
property include=s "glso all and every liberty and jurisdiction of park that I
have or ought or could have ar enjoy”, A third Deed later in the same year
explainz in detail how an annual rent of 133, 4d. formerly peld to the King as
chief lord had "for divers sums of money" been granied by the King to Gage, who

now rencunced all rights to thiz annual payment in consideration of £13, 6s. 24,
paid to him by Cornford (9).
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The Cornfords owned the Park until 1580, a4nd it is probable Lhal thoy wore
responsible for its disparking, which would invelve clearing most ol the wood-
land and planting hedges to divide the land into ficlds, Mamy ol the old

dear parks were converted to asgriculturs]l use during the 18th century, dus
partly to the break—up of the ecciesizstical estates (100 and wartly to the
great increase in price of timber, grain and other agriecaltural predacls,
William Cornford had died before 15753, but 2t is unlikely tThat John Brackenbury
ever hecame the Park Keeper, for in 1575 John Cornford leased the property to
Sir Thomas Sackville, Lord Buckhurst, for a fterm of %P years at a rent of £80
per annum (I1). John Cornford was then referred fo az a yeoman, and Tor the
first time Ringmer Lodge was called "a Mansion Howse", which suggests that he
or his father may have enlargedvﬁé rebullt it. In Marih 1580 Lord Buckhurst
aszigned hiz lease to John Turné; of Tableherst, but a fow woeks later he
purchasad Ringmer Park complete with ifs mansion frem Cornford, for an onspeci-
figd sum {12), According to Legge the property then comprised a "dwelling house,
dovecote, two barns, two gardens, 80 acres land (presumably arable}, 20 acres

meadow, 70 acres pasture and 10 acres wood" (47,

Zackvilles and Staplieys

From this time on miich more is known about the abasntee owners of the Park than
about the people who lived thers and farmed the land, Thowas Sackville was

8 considerable poet as a yvoung man, but soon abandoned the arts to hold high
aoffice at the Courts of both Elizabeth I and James I. Ameng hiz many appoint-
ments were Lord High Treasurer znd Lord High Steward of England; he was &
Knight of the Garter, was created Lord Buckhurst in 1567 and the 1at Earl of
Dorset in 18G4, while in 1586 Elizabeth, to whom the Sackvilles wers related
through the Boleyns, preasented hinm with the former royal palace of Knole in Kent,
In 1808 he left a great fortune to his aon Robert, the Znd Earl, who survived
him for only a year. Richard, the 3rd Barl, was a gambler and spendthrif{ who
lived bheyond his income in spite of his subatantisl infieritance, and was forced
to 5ell much of the property acguired by his forbears (13). In 1818 he was
granted a Licence of Alienation to sell Ringmer Park to Anthony Stapley (14},

though it is uncesrtain how scon after this the sale was coupleted,

The purchaser was either Anthony Stapley of Framfield, who bought Patcham FPlace
in about 1625, or his zon Anthony, born c,15%0) (15}, The younger Anthony was
the owner of Ringmer Park by 16392 (146), at which time he was bocoming prominent
on the Parliamentary =ide in the period leading up"to the Civil War. Strictly-
puritanical, hé was elected Member of Darliament for Sussex In 1840, served in

the Long Parliament, and in 1642 as Colonel Stapley he, with other Deputy-—
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Lisutsnants for Sussex, was commandsd %y Parliament to "put that County into the
like posture of defence as ia Kent, and to disarm all such as shall refusze to
join with them in securing the County". fI= was Governor of Chichester in 15643,
and in 1649 was one of the Commissioners at the trial of Charles I, whose death
warrant he signed. Under Cromwell he was Vice-Admiral for Sussex and then
Commizszioner of Somers Islands — the Bermudas - at £1000 per annum, as & reward
for his consistent support of the Parliamentary side, At least Anthany, the
regicide, was loyal to his master, but his son John, who inherited the family
proporties in 1655, while apparently supporting Cromwell was plotfing to reatore
Charles II %o the throne. In thia he was joilned by his younger brother Anthony,
among othera, ¥hen the plot was discovered JTohn betrayed his fellow-conspirators
and was pardoned by Cromwell, but nevertheless Charlés Il at his Restorastion
creatad him & baronet (17), He married Mary Springate of Broyle Place, and
after the death of hiz father-in-law lived there s head of the family and

'squire’ of Ringmer.

In 1681 S8ir John transferred Ringner Park to his son Herbert, of Folkington (18),
who died in 1685, pre-deceasing his father by three years; Herhert's two
children had died in childhood, and the property evidently went to his sister
Elizabeth, who had married Dr,Thowmas Briggs, Chancellor of the Diocese of

Chichester, in 1684 {13},

The Shore family

Dr Briggs had died before L1716, 23 a deed of that year gives Dame Alicia Taylor,

widow, Elizabeth Briggs, widow, and Thowmas Briggs, esquirs, as ownerz of Ringmer

Parlk, The description of the property now includes "all mynes, woods and
underwood” . Elizabeth Carter, widow, was still the occupiser, as she had been
in 1631, This deed sets oot in detail the history of the 13s. 44, annual reont

onoe dus to Henry VIII and how it "is come to the said Thomas Briggs". The
document iz a lease of Ringmer Park and other properties in Sussex to Henry
Ay¥lward, with a fecovery a month later, and in the same yeanr the properties ware

sold by Briggs to Dr.John Shore, his brother-in-law for £3000 (20},

Two, or possibly three, generatlons of the Shores family of Chichester owned the
properiy from 1716 until the 1770s. Dr.Juhn Shore died in 1713, and iag 1760
there was a lease and release from Robert Wilson and his wife Alice, helr of
John Shore, to James Parke, invélving a payment of £220, In 1¥67 at the time
of the Broyle Bnclosure Major John Shore was the owner, and Jane Shore inherited
it f£rom her hushand John between 1773 and 17735, &ane Shore, resident in
Portman Street, London, mortgaged Ringmer Park in 1778 to Riﬁﬁard Board, a
London chemist, for 24000, Ehe pald off over 2000 Iin 1787, bui the mortgage

was in existence until 1B35 (20).
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Jana, who died in about 1801, bedueathed the property to "my good friends"

Dy, Thomas Walshman and his wife Elizabeth, after whose desths it was to g to
the youngest son of Gibbs Crawford of Pax Hill, Lindfield, Dr . Walshkan was
the owner until his death in 1836, hils wife having died three years proviously

{21).
Gamekeepers

Both Jane Shore and Dr,Walahman appointed gamekespers for the "manor” of
RFingmer Park. Richard Canncn, yeoman, of Ringmer, was the gamckeeper in 17835,
and James Phillips, yeoman, of the Cliffe near Lewes, in 1800, In 1802 the
gamekeeper was Samusl Paine of Lewes, butcher, amd in 1805 Sanuel Pain of
Ringmer (22) who was very likely living atl Ringmer Park; Gideon Mantel! in

his Journal records visiting his friend Charles Pain at Ringmer Park in 1819,

Later (kners and Occupisrs

After the death of Dr.Walstiman, Willism Board Rdwards=Gibbs Crawford had to
prove hiz entitlement to inherit Ringmer Park as the yvoungest son-of Gibhs
Crawford, He produced his parents’ marriage certificate, the burlal
certificates of Dr. and Mrs. Walshman, his own baptism certificate dated 1796,
g brief pedigree and an affidavit sworn by Timothy Muddle of Lindfield, This
stated that William was the only son of Gibba Crawford and Fanny (whose maiden
nsme incidentally was Board, that of the Tirst mortgagee). Willigm Gihbs
Crawford raized another £2500 on the securlty of Ringmef Park in October 1834,
the mortgagess now being the Rev, Thelwall Salusbury and tha Rev Henry Steward
{213, However the preamble to the Ringmer Tithe Award dateod 1843 states that
the Park Farm and lands "belong to the trustees of the will of the late Gibbs

Crawford Gsguire', It iz difficult to understand why William Gibbs Crawford
is not named as the owner. The tenant of the land was William Ridge of Upper
Htoneham,

In 1855 the Reverends Salusbury and Steward exercised their right to sell the
bproperty in default of interest paid on the loan, and Ringmer Park waa put up
for auction {21}, In March Mary Sharpe, wldow, Tenant at Will, was given six
menths notice to quit, and the sale took place on 26 June 1855 at the White Hart
Inn, Lewes, The highest hid of £4, 100 was made by George Samuel Gibbas of
Ringmer, who thus became the new owner (210, George Gibbs cocupied the house
and farmed the land himself (23}, possibly the first owner to do so since the
Cornfords in the }Eth sentury, In 1873 he sold the property to Willlam
Langham Christie of Glyndebourne for £13,000, over three timss the amount he had

paid for 1t 20 years earlier (21},

47



John Bowmall, farmer, was the occupler of Park Farm in 1878, but from 1887 to
1918 John Porter and then Willdiam Porter were living there as private residents,
followad by George Eliof Healey in 1924 and 1930 and Donald Glass in 1938 (24),
From the 1950s to the mid 1%70s Ringmer Park was the home of 51r Richerd

Boughey, whose father, 3ir George, had lived at Malling House, Lewes.

At the time of writing the property i= once more in the market, being offered
for szle by Mr.Peter Benning, Instead of Cornford's manszion there is now a
spaciouz and luxurious Geergian—-style house built in the 19305, standing in

about 14 acres of land (25).

Area of the Park and use of land

Over the years the following estimations are given of the screage, and in some

cases the usa, qf the land.

Date Total Wood Arable Pagture Meadow Referance
acres ACTaS5 BLTSS Acres aores
1546 130 S43/TE p. 2
1580 180 10 a0 T 20 W.H.Leggze
1681 200 ESRO/Danny /343
1716 172 ESRO/GEN/8/5
1750 225 2 70 120 30 " a
1778 172 " "
1836 171 ' o o4 32 34 " GBN/15/1
(shaws &
hedges}
1843 163 1% 82 62 15 Tithe Award
1583 132 -- -= Gardens and Paddocks ~ Strutt & Parker

sale prospectus

Somes of these variations might be accounted for by differcnces in ﬁethods of
calculation and standards of accuracy, and the fact thet house plois and gardens
are included in some totals and omitted from others, However the figures for
17680 —.a total of 225 anres with 120 acres pasture — would indicate that akout
50 acres of land had besn added fto the estate since 1716 and ware disposed of
again before 1778, Throughout itz history Binmmer Park seems to have been
quite separate from the Middleham eatate which 1t adjoins to the scuth-east anﬁ
from Ryderswells te ithe south-west, and it is boun&ed by reoads to the north and
north-west, The most 1ikely area for exchange of land waulé.thus be with

Stoneham to the south, and in fact mest of the former Ringmer Park land has bean

48



Toruad by Upper Stonsham for many years.

It is thought that the parish

boundary south of Ringmer Park was ro-alipgned between 1702 and 1731 (26}, and

the houndary of the Park itself may have been altersd at that period, even if

it was later reinstated,

Value of the estate

Date Lease Sale Refarence
£ p.a, £
1545 300 SA3/TR/p 2
1575 G0 ESROSAMS /3617
1780 220 ESRO/GEN/2/5
1385 4100 ESRO/GENLE,/1
1873 13000 " " "
1942 fasking price:} "Bussex Rxpress &

285000

County Herald"

% Oet.1982

As wall as reflecting the changing sconomic hackground, these figures give =ome
clues as io the way the estate was managed at different periocds, The rent of
£80 p.a. in 1575 implies a capital value of over EX(00, compared with £300 30
years earlier — this may be additional evidence that the Cornfords coverted the

park to farmland during these years of inflation.

Anocther significant rise in walus is between 1850 and 1875, suggesting that

George Gibhs, the new owner, improved and developed the estate after a period
of neplect, then sold it at & handsome profit at a time of high prices. The
current valne of Hingmer Park, bereft of its fazrmland, will perhaps surpeise

Future historians.

Acknowledpmenis

I should Llike to thank John Bleach and John Kay for their information, advice

and azsistsnce in research.

Referances

1. East Sussexz Record Office (ESRD) /Gage /45715,

2, Sussex Archasological Scociety (SAS)/TR.p.Z2.

3. C.Rackham, 'Trees & Woodland in the British Landscape', (Bent}, 1876.

49



4, W.Heneage Legge. 'Papera on Ringmer & Neighbourhood' in "The
Religquary & Illustrated Archaeslegist’ No.8, 1802, (Reprinted as

preceding article in this isgue of 'Ringmer History').

5. R.Millward & A.Robinson, 'South-east England: Theameside and the
Weald', {(Macmillan}, 1871,

G, HN.D.G.Jomes, 'History of English Forestry', (Blackwell), 1981.
ESRO/Gage/8/ 9%,

3. .Garraway Rice, 'The Household Goods of Sir Joho Gage® in Sussex

Archasclogical Collections (S5AC) Vol 45, 1502,

9. SARSTR. pp.2 ~ T.
10, P . Brandon, "Tthe Suzsex Landscape', {Hodder & Stoughton}, 1574,
11, ESRO/AM5 /3617,
12, HASSTR. pp. 10 -~ 11,
13, V.5ackille-West, 'Enole & the Sackvilles’, (Lindsay Drummond), 18922, p.8.

14, ESRO/AMS /138,

15. E,Turner, 'Bxtracts from the Diary of Richard Stapley' in SAC, Vol.2, 1849,
16, EERO/Danny /335,
17. C.Thomas-Stanford, 'Sussex in the Great Civil War and Interregnum',

{Chiswick FPress), 1810,

18, ESRO/Danny /343,

1%, Ringmer Parish Registers,

20, ESROSGEN/8/5,

21, ESRO/GBEN/15/1 . _

22, Suszex Record Scciety, Vol.51l, "Deputations of Gamekeepers', 1950,
23, Kelly's Directoriés of Sussex, 18B7. '

24, Eelly's Directories of Hussex for yoars mentioned in text.

25, Strutt & Parker, Sale Prospacius, 1982,

26, ESRO/461/17°1/6; 71, Woollgar, 'Spieilegia', Vol.II, <.l1B00,

50



